## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-2423

JODI BENJAMIN as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARLENE GAGNON, Deceased, L.T. CASE NOS.: 4th DCA: 4D07-949 PALM BEACH CIRCUIT: 2005CA005482

Petitioner,

v.

TANDEM HEALTHCARE, INC., a foreign Corporation d/b/a TANDEM HEALTHCARE OF WEST PALM BEACH, INC. a Florida Corporation,

Respondent.

### **PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF**

#### **JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction to review the certified question of great public importance of whether article X, Section 25 of the Florida Constitution (commonly known as "Amendment 7"), applies to nursing homes. <u>See Art. V, § 3(b)(4)</u>, Fla. Const. The First District previously certified the same question as one of great public importance in <u>Avante Villa at Jacksonville Beach, Inc. v. Breidert</u>, 958 So. 2d 1031, 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007). Neither party in <u>Avante Villa sought further review</u>. The decisions have statewide impact and prevent patients in nursing homes across the state from obtaining records of adverse medical incidents.

This Court also has jurisdiction because the Fourth District's decision expressly and directly conflicts with <u>Florida Hospital Waterman, Inc. v. Buster</u>, 932 So. 2d 344, 351 n.6 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) ("<u>Buster I</u>"), <u>approved in part</u>, <u>quashed in part</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008). <u>See Art. V, § 3(b)(3)</u>, Fla. Const. In <u>Buster I</u>, the Fifth District stated in dicta that the purpose of Amendment 7 was to abrogate numerous statutory peer review privileges, including a quality assurance privilege for nursing homes in section 400.118, Florida Statutes (2005). <u>See Buster I</u>, 932 So. 2d at 351 n.6. The peer review statutes Tandem cited in the Fourth District, sections 400.119 and 400.147, Florida Statutes, serve an almost identical purpose as those that Amendment 7 abrogated, <u>i.e.</u>, to limit discovery of the risk management process with the goal of improving care through self-regulation. <u>See Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154, S156-57 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008) ("<u>Buster II</u>"); <u>Buster I</u>, 932 So. 2d at 351 n.6; <u>see also Advisory Opinion to the Attorney Gen. re Patients' Right to Know About Adverse Med. Incidents, 880 So. 2d 617, 620-21 (Fla. 2004).</u>

This Court should exercise its jurisdiction and decide that Amendment 7, which grants all patients the right to access records of any adverse medical incidents involving a "health care facility or provider," applies to nursing homes. The Fourth District recognized that nurses are "health care providers" and that nursing homes are "health care facilities" under many general laws. <u>See Tandem</u>, 969 So. 2d at 521-22. It also observed that "the purpose of the voters adopting the amendment would be well served by applying the amendment to privileged incident reports in **any** health-related context, including those prepared in a nursing home." <u>Id.</u> at 522 (emphasis supplied). Nonetheless, the Fourth District refused to apply Amendment 7 to records created by nursing homes. <u>See id.</u> at 521-22. The

Fourth District violated settled precepts by narrowly construing Amendment 7 as only incorporating the definition of "health care facility" or "provider" set forth in section 381.026, Florida Statutes (2004), which does not include nursing homes or nurses. <u>See Tandem</u>, 969 So. 2d at 521-22.

This interpretation frustrates the intent of the voters in adopting Amendment 7-- to create a broad right to access the records of "**any** adverse medical incident" and abrogate contrary peer review statutes. <u>See Buster II</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S156-57 & S159. It also eviscerates the intent of the Nursing Home Act--to provide remedies to frail and elderly nursing home residents who are receiving both medical and custodial care in nursing homes. <u>See, e.g.</u>, § 400.011, Fla. Stat. (2004). Nursing homes are clearly a type of "health care facility or provider" and nursing home residents are a type of "patient" as those terms are used in Amendment 7. This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and quash the Fourth District's decision.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Marlene Gagnon was admitted to Tandem's nursing home in July 2004 (AA-1:2). She suffered from a series of disabilities caused by spinal polio, including weak throat and voice muscles (AA-1:2). Tandem established a treatment plan to address Mrs. Gagnon's swallowing problems (AA-1:2). The treatment plan incorporated her physicians' orders to provide a special diet of soft or chopped food and required that she be assisted while eating (AA-1:2-3, 7-8). Tandem failed to follow the orders and treatment plan (AA-1:2-3, 7-8).

Shortly after Mrs. Gagnon's admission, Tandem gave Mrs. Gagnon a full lunch tray, including a large helping of coleslaw (AA-1:3). Providing coleslaw directly violated the special diet Mrs. Gagnon's doctors had ordered (AA-1:3, 7-8). Tandem also failed to provide Mrs. Gagnon assistance during meals (AA-1:7). Not unexpectedly, Mrs. Gagnon choked on the coleslaw (AA-1:3, 7-8). Tandem's employees then failed to properly clear her airway or perform CPR (AA-1:8). As a result, Mrs. Gagnon suffered cardiac failure and irreversible brain damage (AA-1:3, 7-8). She died from these injuries several days later (AA-1:3, 14-15).

Plaintiff, Jodi Benjamin, as the personal representative of the Estate of Marlene Gagnon, sued Tandem for violations of nursing home resident's rights pursuant to sections 400.022 and 400.023, Florida Statutes (2004), common law negligence and wrongful death (AA-1). The complaint specifically alleged that Tandem had violated Mrs. Gagnon's right to receive adequate and appropriate health care and protective and support services under section 400.022(1)(l) (AA-1).

During discovery, plaintiff requested that Tandem produce "[a]ll reports or records of any 'Adverse Medical Incident' involving Marlene Gagnon" and any quality of care records regarding Mrs. Gagnon (AA-2:1-2). Plaintiff cited article X, section 25 of the Florida Constitution (commonly known as "Amendment 7"), which grants patients a right to access reports of any adverse medical incidents (AA-2). Tandem objected, claiming that Amendment 7 "does not apply in this matter" (AA-3:1). Tandem never mentioned what specific statute allegedly shielded these documents from discovery (AA-3:2; <u>see also</u> AA-4; AA-6; AA-7). Tandem's privilege log listed two documents allegedly protected by the peer review privilege: an Adverse Incident Report and a Statement of Dorothy Inman, RN (AA-4).

Plaintiff moved to compel production of the Amendment 7 materials, pointing out that the Fourth District had held in <u>North Broward Hospital District v.</u> <u>Kroll</u>, 940 So. 2d 1281, 1282-83 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), <u>review pending</u> (Case No. SC06-2425), that Amendment 7 creates a broad right of access to any records related to adverse medical incidents (AA-5; AA-7:5-7; AA-8). Tandem responded that Amendment 7 does not apply to records created by nursing homes because

nursing homes are not "health care providers" and nursing home residents are not "patients" under Amendment 7 (AA-6; AA-7:4).

The trial court granted plaintiff's motion to compel production of the Amendment 7 materials, citing <u>Florida Hospital Waterman, Inc. v. Buster</u>, 932 So. 2d 344, 351 n.6 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) ("<u>Buster I</u>"), <u>approved in part, quashed in part</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008) (A-2:4-5).<sup>1</sup> The trial court observed that in <u>Buster I</u>, the "court stated the amendment was an 'obvious' reference to the statutory reference [sic, privilege] contained in section 400.118, among other statutes." (A-2:5).

Tandem filed a petition for certiorari in the Fourth District. The Fourth District concluded that Amendment 7 does not apply to records created in nursing homes and quashed the order compelling production. <u>See Tandem Healthcare, Inc.</u> <u>v. Benjamin</u>, 969 So. 2d 519, 521-22 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007) (A-1). According to the court, nursing homes are not a "health care facility" or "health care provider" because Amendment 7 provides that these terms "have the meaning given in general law to a patient's rights and responsibilities." <u>Id.</u> at 521 (quoting Art. X, §

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The copy of the order compelling production included in the appendix to Tandem's certiorari petition appears to be missing page 4 (AA-10). A complete copy of the circuit court's order is included in the appendix to this brief (A-2).

25(c)(1), Fla. Const.). The court reasoned that "[a] number of other general laws define healthcare facilities as including nursing homes." <u>Id.</u> However, it concluded that Amendment 7 intended to only reference the definitions in section 381.026, Florida Statutes (2004), because that statute is titled, "The Florida Patient's Bill of Rights and Responsibilities." <u>Tandem</u>, 969 So. 2d at 522. Section 381.026(2)(b) defines a "health care facility" as a "facility licensed under chapter 395," which governs hospitals, ambulatory surgical centers and mobile surgical facilities. <u>See</u> § 395.003(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (2004). Section 381.026(2)(c) defines a "health care provider" as a doctor ("a physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, or a podiatric physician licensed under chapter 461").

The Fourth District concluded that "[o]bviously, nursing homes are health care facilities for some purposes," but not "for purposes of applying Amendment 7." <u>Tandem</u>, 969 So. 2d at 522. The Fourth District did, however, recognize that construing Amendment 7 as applying to nursing homes would further its purpose. <u>See id</u>. The decision certified the question as one of great public importance for this Court to resolve. <u>Id.</u> at 521-22.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The citizens of Florida adopted article X, section 25 of the Florida Constitution ("Amendment 7") to allow patients a broad right to access records of adverse medical incidents that had been shielded from discovery by numerous peer review statutes. The Fourth District concluded that Amendment 7 did not extend to patients in nursing homes, relying solely upon the definitions in section 381.026, Florida Statutes. The Fourth District recognized the statewide impact of its decision and certified to this Court the question of whether Amendment 7 extends to records created by nursing homes.

Amendment 7 defines "health care facility" and "health care provider" as having "the meaning given **in general law** related to a patient's rights and responsibilities." Art. X, § 25(c)(1). Section 381.026 is only one of many general laws related to patients' rights and responsibilities. For example, the Nursing Home Act is a general law that grants nursing home residents the right to adequate health care, a right enforceable through a statutory cause of action. Numerous other general laws refer to nursing homes as "health care facilities" and to nurses as "health care providers." The Fourth District erred in reading Amendment 7 narrowly, rather than giving it the broad right of access intended by Florida voters. The cramped construction the Fourth and First Districts gave to Amendment 7 leads to an absurd result. Both courts recognize that nurses provide professional health care. However, nurses can never be considered "health care providers" under Amendment 7 because section 381.026 limits this term to doctors.

Voters never intended to exempt nurses and nursing homes from the requirement to provide patients with records of adverse medical incidents. Construing Amendment 7 as including nursing homes furthers the intent of the voters to abrogate contrary peer review statutes. It also furthers the purpose of the Nursing Home Act--to protect vulnerable nursing home residents. This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and quash the decision of the Fourth District.

#### ARGUMENT

## AMENDMENT 7 ENTITLES PLAINTIFFS TO ACCESS RECORDS OF ADVERSE MEDICAL INCIDENTS IN NURSING HOMES.

In 2004, the citizens of Florida amended the Florida Constitution to create Amendment 7, which affords all patients a "right to have access to **any records** made or received in the course of business by **a health care facility or provider relating to any adverse medical incident**." Art. X, § 25(a), Fla. Const. (commonly known as "Amendment 7"). Amendment 7 "heralds a change in the public policy of this state to lift the shroud of privilege and confidentiality in order to foster disclosure of information that will allow patients . . . access to information gathered through the self-policing processes during the discovery period of litigation filed by injured patients . . . against their health care providers." <u>Fla.</u> <u>Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154, S159 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008) ("<u>Buster II</u>") (quoting <u>Buster I</u>, 932 So. 2d at 355-56). Its "chief purpose" is to eliminate privileges under numerous peer review statutes that had restricted a "patient's access to a medical provider's 'history of acts, neglects, or defaults' because such history 'may be important to a patient." <u>Id.</u> at S157 (quoting Advisory Opinion to the Attorney Gen. re: Patients' Right to Know About Adverse Med. Incidents, 880 So. 2d 617, 618 (Fla. 2004)).<sup>2</sup>

The peer review statutes Tandem cited for the first time in the Fourth District, sections 400.119 and 400.147, Florida Statutes,<sup>3</sup> have an almost identical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See also Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster, 932 So. 2d 344, 351 n.6 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) ("Buster I"), approved in part, quashed in part, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008); Notami Hosp. of Fla., Inc. v. Bowen, 927 So. 2d 139, 143-45 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006), aff'd sub nom., Fla. Hosp. Waterman, Inc. v. Buster, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S154 (Fla. Mar. 6, 2008); N. Broward Hosp. Dist. v. Kroll, 940 So. 2d 1281, 1282-83 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), review pending (Case No. SC06-2425).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In the trial court, Tandem never cited any specific statutes as supporting its claims of a peer review privilege (AA-3:2; <u>see also</u> AA-4; AA-6; AA-7).

purpose to those that Amendment 7 abrogated. <u>See Buster II</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly S156-57 & S159; <u>see also Patients' Right to Know</u>, 880 So. 2d at 620-21. These peer review statutes limit discovery of the risk management process with the goal of improving care through self-regulation. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Buster I</u>, 932 So. 2d at 351 n.6. The voters adopting Amendment 7 chose to abrogate these peer review statutes, including those applicable to nursing homes.

Courts must broadly construe Amendment 7 to protect the right of access intended by Florida's citizens. <u>See Buster II</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S156 & S159. Courts afford constitutional provisions "a broader and more liberal construction than statutes" because they "are 'living documents,' not easily amended, which demand greater flexibility in interpretation than that required by legislatively enacted statutes." <u>Coastal Fla. Police Benevolent Ass'n v. Williams</u>, 838 So. 2d 543, 549 (Fla. 2003). Courts should not construe constitutions "so as to defeat their underlying objectives." <u>Id.</u> at 549. This Court recently applied these settled precepts in observing that Amendment 7 "must never be construed in such manner as to make it possible for the will of the people to be frustrated or denied." <u>Buster II</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S156.

The Fourth District's conclusion that Amendment 7 does not apply because nursing homes are not "a health care facility or provider" and nursing home residents are not "patients" conflicts with the plain language of Amendment 7 and its purpose.<sup>4</sup> Even the Fourth District recognized that:

> It may well be that there is substantial social benefit in recognizing freedom of information over a nursing home's privilege with respect to health care matters generally, and that the **purpose of the voters adopting the amendment would be well served by applying the amendment to privileged incident reports in** *any* **health-related context, including those prepared in a nursing home**.

Tandem, 969 So. 2d at 522 (italics in original) (A-1).

Amendment 7 grants all patients a broad right to "access . . . **any records** made or received in the course of business by **a health care facility or provider** relating to **any adverse medical incident**." Art. X, § 25(a), Fla. Const. Amendment 7 provides the following definitions:

(1) The phrases "health care facility" and "health care provider" have **the meaning given in general law related to a patient's rights and responsibilities**.

(2) The term "**patient**" means an **individual who has sought**, is seeking, is undergoing, or **has undergone care or treatment** in a health care facility or by a health care provider.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This Court reviews <u>de novo</u> this issue of constitutional interpretation. <u>See</u> <u>Buster II</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly at S155.

(3) The phrase "adverse medical incident" means medical negligence, intentional misconduct, and any other act, neglect, or default of a health care facility or health care provider that caused or could have caused injury to or death of a patient, including, but not limited to, those incidents that are required by state or federal law to be reported to any governmental agency or body, and incidents that are reported to or reviewed by any health care facility peer review, risk management, quality assurance, credentials, or similar committee, or any representative of any such committees.

Art. X, § 25(c)(1)-(3), Fla. Const. These broad definitions, read in light of the purpose of Amendment 7, make clear that nursing home residents are "patients" entitled to records of "adverse medical incidents" in nursing homes under Amendment 7.

Most basically, chapter 400 is entitled, "Nursing Homes and Related Health Care Facilities." The express purpose of chapter 400 is to protect the health of elderly residents in nursing homes by developing, establishing and enforcing basic standards for "[t]he health, care, and treatment of persons in nursing homes and related health care facilities." § 400.011(1), Fla. Stat. (2004); see also Integrated Health Care Servs., Inc. v. Lang-Redway, 840 So. 2d 974, 979-81 (Fla. 2002) (explaining that chapter 400 "provides for the development and enforcement of basic standards of care imposed upon nursing homes"). The Legislature intended these standards would "ensure safe, adequate, and appropriate care, treatment, and health of persons in such facilities." § 400.011(2).

Nursing homes provide residents with professional nursing care. Section 400.021(13), Florida Statutes (2004), defines "**nursing home facility**" as "any facility which **provides nursing services** as defined in part I of chapter 464 and which is licensed according to this part."<sup>5</sup> <u>See also Integrated Health Care</u>, 840 So. 2d at 980-81 (explaining that nursing homes provide residents with both professional health care by licensed nurses and custodial care by unlicensed staff). Under section 400.023(4), nursing homes are vicariously liable for a **nurse's** failure to "exercise care consistent with the **prevailing professional standard** of care for a nurse." Nursing homes are also liable under chapter 400 "for failure to provide a resident with appropriate **observation, assessment, nursing diagnosis, planning, intervention and evaluation of care by nursing staff**." § 400.023(5). Thus, nursing homes are liable under section 400.023 for negligently rendered

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Chapter 400 defines "nursing service" as "such services or acts as may be rendered, directly or indirectly, to and on behalf of a person by individuals as defined in s. 464.003." § 400.021(14). Section 464.003(3)(a), Florida Statutes (2004), defines the "[p]ractice of professional nursing" as performing "acts requiring substantial specialized knowledge, judgment, and nursing skill," including "observation, assessment, nursing diagnosis, planning, intervention, and evaluation of care" and "administration of medications and treatments as prescribed or authorized by a duly licensed practitioner." Section 464.003(3)(e) defines "nursing treatment" as "the establishment and implementation of a nursing regimen for the care and comfort of individuals, the prevention of illness, and the education, **restoration and maintenance of health**."

professional nursing care.

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