IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-2423

JODI BENJAMIN as Personal Representative of the Estate of MARLENE GAGNON, Deceased,

L.T. CASE NOS.: 4th DCA: 4D07-949 PALM BEACH CIRCUIT: 2005CA005482

Petitioner,

v.

TANDEM HEALTHCARE, INC., a foreign Corporation d/b/a TANDEM HEALTHCARE OF WEST PALM BEACH, INC. a Florida Corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

QUINTAIROS, PRIETO, WOOD & BOYER, P.A.

Thomas A. Valdez Florida Bar No. 114952 4905 West Laurel Street - Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607 Phone (813) 286-8818 Facsimile (813) 287-9998 Counsel for Respondent TANDEM HEALTHCARE, INC.

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Amendment 7 is limited in its scope and does not apply to Nursing Homes. By its plain and unambiguous terms, the Amendment applies only to "healthcare facilities" and "health care providers", which are precisely defined for purposes of the Amendment by a statute incorporated into the Amendment as Hospitals and Physicians. There is nothing in the plain language of the Amendment that would demonstrate that it was the intent of the framers or the voters that the Amendment be interpreted to include any entities other than Physicians and Hospitals.

To the extent the Court reviews the available evaluative materials, historical precedent, present facts, and the dictates of common sense, all of which would have been available to voters during the decision making process as a predicate for their decision, which are addressed in two different sections of this brief, it will find that the same support the conclusion that Amendment 7 does not and was never meant to apply to Nursing Homes.

The conclusion that by it plain language Amendment 7 does not apply to Nursing Homes is supported by this Court's recent ruling in <u>Buster II</u> which approved definitions of the terms "health care facility" and "health care provider" contained in the statutory codification of Amendment 7, which defined those terms to mean Hospitals and Physicians. The conclusion that by it plain language Amendment 7 does not apply to Nursing Homes is further supported by the fact that the Amendment references "patients" as opposed to "residents" and "patients' right" instead of residents' rights". These words and terms have very precise and different meanings.

Petitioner's flawed interpretation of the terms Amendment 7 which isolates and focuses on the term "general law" but ignores and fails to give meaning to that terms modifying language; runs afoul of the law requiring all language in an amendment be given meaning so that none of it is rendered "superfluous".

The fact section 381.026 is incorporated into the Amendment by reference to its name and other undeniable references rather than its number does not change the fact that the section was incorporated in the Amendment.

There is no legitimate basis for giving Amendment 7 a broader construction that that given by the District Courts; or expanding its terms based on Petitioner's claim that doing the same would accomplish some social good.

Even if skilled nursing facilities were within the purview of Amendment 7, that the Amendment would be inconsistent with, contrary to, and therefore preempted by Federal law.

ARGUMENT

Respondent respectfully asserts that this Honorable Court should: (1) answer the question certified by the Fourth District in this case as one of great public importance in the negative, and hold that: "Skilled Nursing Facilities", known colloquially as "Nursing Homes", do not fall within the definition of "Health Care Facility" or "Health Care Provider" as contemplated by "Amendment 7", the Amendment known formally as Article X, Section 25, Florida Constitution (*thereby approving the Fourth District's ruling below*); and (2) hold, to the extent it must address the issue at all, that even if skilled nursing facilities were within the purview of Amendment 7, that the Amendment would be inconsistent with, contrary to, and therefore preempted by Federal law.

I. AMENDMENT 7 IS LIMITED IN ITS SCOPE AND DOES NOT APPLY TO NURSING HOMES THEREFORE THIS COURT SHOULD ANSWER THE CERTIFIED QUESTION BEFORE IT IN THE NEGATIVE

Based on a review of the express language of Amendment 7, the long standing principles of construction applicable in this case, the explanatory materials related to it, and this Court's most recent decision relating to Amendment 7, it is clear that the Amendment does not apply to Nursing Homes; and that the inclusion of Nursing Homes within the scope was never the intent of the framers or the voters. Therefore, this Court should answer the certified question posed by the Fourth District in this case in the negative.

A. AMENDMENT 7 DOES NOT APPLY TO NURSING HOMES BECAUSE NURSING HOMES DO NOT FALL WITHIN THE DEFINITION OF THE PLAIN MEANING OF THE TERM "HEALTH CARE FACILITY" OR "HEALTH CARE PROVIDER" CONTEMPLATED BY THE AMENDMENT

A review of the clear, unambiguous, express terms of the "Statement and Purpose"; the full text of the Amendment presented to the citizens of the State of Florida; and the statutory definitions of the key terms "Health Care Facility" and "Health Care Provider" incorporated by reference in the Amendment, leads to the undeniable conclusion that the Amendment does not apply to "Nursing Homes".

As a preliminary matter, there are three cardinal rules of constitutional construction relevant to the decision of the issue in this case. The first cardinal rule is that the intent of the framers and adopters be given effect in interpreting a constitutional provision. <u>See Coastal Fla. Police Benevolent Ass'n v. Williams</u>, 838 So.2d 543, 548 (Fla. 2003)

The second cardinal rule is that to determine the intent of the framers and adopters of a constitutional amendment, the Court must give effect to the plain meaning of the words actually used in the provision or amendment. <u>See Coastal Fla. Police Benevolent Ass'n at 548; In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor, 374 So.2d 959, 964 (Fla.1979); Fla. League of Cities v. Smith, 607 So.2d 397, 400 (Fla.1992); <u>City of St. Petersburg v. Briley, Wild & Assocs., Inc.</u>, 239 So.2d 817,</u>

822 (Fla.1970); see also Avante Villa at Jacksonville Beach, Inc. v. Breidert, 958
So.2d 1031, 1033 (1st DCA 2007)(citing the foregoing authorities).

The third cardinal rule is that where a constitutional provision is clear and unambiguous, there is nothing to interpret, and no reason to resort to extrinsic rules of construction. <u>See Fla. League of Cities</u> at 400 ("extrinsic guides to construction are not allowed to defeat the plain language"); <u>City of St. Petersburg v. Briley,</u> <u>Wild & Assocs., Inc.</u>, at 822 (courts have no power "to go outside the bounds of the constitutional provision in search of excuses to give a different meaning to words used therein"). <u>See Coastal Fla. Police Benevolent Ass'n</u> at 548 (clear and unambiguous provision must be "enforced as written").

The interrelationship and application of these cardinal rules is really quite straightforward and simple. As explained by this Court in numerous cases, "[a]ny inquiry into the proper interpretation of a constitutional provision must begin with an examination of that provision's explicit language. If [the language of a constitutional provision] is clear, unambiguous, and addresses the matter at issue, then it must be enforced as written....". <u>See e.g. See Fla. League of Cities</u> at 400; Coastal Fla. Police Benevolent Ass'n at 548.

Applying these cardinal rules in this case leads to the conclusion that "Amendment 7" does not apply to "Nursing Homes". Specifically, an examination of the explicit language of Amendment 7 and its related parts (specifically the language indicating that the Amendment applies only to "health care provider" and "health care facility" and the language that defines those terms), demonstrates that language of the Amendment is clear, precise, and unambiguous; that there is therefore no reason to refer to extrinsic rules of construction; and that as a result its language "**must be allowed to speak for itself**" and the Amendment should be "**enforced as written**". <u>Id</u>. To wit, that the Amendment, should be read to be limited to physicians and hospitals, but inapplicable and unenforceable against Nursing Homes.

The voters who approved Amendment 7 were presented with a ballot which consisted of two substantive sections: the first entitled "Statement and Purpose" which was a pre-amble to the Amendment; and the second entitled "Amendment of Florida Constitution," which included the entire text of the proposed Amendment. The language of these two sections and the statute they incorporate by reference, which are discussed in detail in the following sections, clearly and unambiguously indicate that the Amendment applies to **doctors** and **hospitals**; and does not apply to Nursing Homes or any other entities.

1. The "Statement and Purpose" of Amendment 7

A review of the first section of the ballot, entitled "Statement and Purpose" is enlightening. That section begins, "[t]he Legislature has enacted provisions relating to a patients' bill of rights and responsibilities ..." This is significant because, in the first substantive words presented to and read by voters, this preamble to the Amendment makes it clear that the Amendment is to apply to "**patients**" (a term whose significance is addressed in great detail below) and that the Amendment is directly tied to an existing statutory provision relating to a "**patients' bill of rights and responsibilities**". That section goes on to explain in its subsequent paragraphs that the purpose of the Amendment was to create a constitutional right for a "**patient**" or "**potential patient**" to know and have access to records of the "adverse medical incidents" of a "health care facility or provider". This is significant because it repeats that the Amendment is to apply to "**patients**" or "**potential patients**" and explains that the Amendment applies only to "health care facilities" and "health care providers" which, as explained below, are defined as hospitals and physicians.

2. The Text of Amendment 7: "Amendment of Florida Constitution"

A review of the second section of the ballot, entitled "Amendment of Florida Constitution", is even more enlightening. That section, which contains the actual text of the Amendment, like the "Statement and Purpose" section, provides for "**patients**" to have a right to have access to any records made or received in the course of business by a "health care facility or provider" relating to any "adverse medical incident". Moreover, it indicates the terms "**health care facility**" and

"health care provider" are to have the meaning given in general law related to a patient's rights and responsibilities".

This is significant because, like the language in the "Statement and Purpose" section of the Amendment, the text of the Amendment makes it clear the Amendment was to apply to "**patients**" (again a term whose significance is addressed in great detail below). Moreover, this is significant because it indicates that an existing statute "**relating to a patients' bill of rights and responsibilities**" referenced in the "Statement and Purpose" section is to provide the definitions of the terms "**health care facility**" and "**health care provider**", which, as explained below, are defined as hospitals and physicians.

3. Section 381.026, Florida Statutes

The reference in the Statement and Purpose section to the fact that the "Legislature has enacted provisions relating to a patients' bill of rights and responsibilities"; and the reference in the express language of the Amendment to the "general law *related to a patient's rights and responsibilities*" are both clear and precise references to a statute that existed at the time Amendment 7 was voted on. A review of the language of the Amendment and entire body of the Florida Statutes leads to the undeniable conclusion that the statute which is referenced and thereby incorporated into the Amendment is Section 381.026, Florida Statutes.

Section 381.026, Florida Statutes was enacted prior to the passage of Amendment 7. It is specifically entitled, "Florida Patient's Bill of Rights and Responsibilities". This should sound familiar because the first sentence of the "Statement and Purpose" section of the Amendment which states "[t]he Legislature has enacted provisions relating to a patients' bill of rights and responsibilities" tracks the title of Section 381.026 verbatim.

Moreover, Section 381.026, is the <u>only</u> section of the Florida Statutes that used the specific term "**patient's rights and responsibilities**" at the time of the adoption of Amendment 7. <u>See Tandem Healthcare, Inc. v. Benjamin</u>, 969 So.2d 519, 521 (4th DCA 2007)(the Fourth District's decision in this case)("<u>Benjamin</u>"); and <u>Avante Villa at Jacksonville Beach, Inc. v. Breidert</u>, 958 So.2d 1031, 1033 (1st DCA 2007)("<u>Breidert</u>"). In other words, there was no "**general law** *related to a patient's rights and responsibilities*" other than Section 381.026 in existence at the time Amendment 7 was voted on.

Therefore, the first sentence of the "Statement and Purpose" and the text of the Amendment incorporates Section 381.026 into the Amendment by reference to its name and other unmistakable references. The First District stated that this incorporation can be reasonably interpreted to require the adoption of the definitions of those terms used in the Florida Patient's Bill of Rights and Responsibilities (section 381.026). <u>See Breidert</u> at 1033; and <u>Benjamin</u> at 521. Petitioner would respectfully assert, given the facts discussed herein, that there can be no other reasonable interpretation of the effect of the incorporation of Section 381.026.

The incorporation of Section 381.026 into the "Statement and Purpose" and the text of Amendment 7 was clearly intended to require the adoption of the definitions of the terms "health care facility" and "health care provider" therein as part of the Amendment. Importantly for purposes of this appeal, Section 381.026, defines a health care facility as "a facility licensed under chapter 395" (i.e. a hospital) and a health care provider as "a physician licensed under chapter 458, an osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, or a podiatric physician licensed under chapter 461" (i.e. Doctors). <u>See</u> Section 381.026(2)(b) & (c), Florida Statutes.

The fact that the Amendment, by incorporation of the statute, expressly defines the facilities and providers to which it applies to (hospitals and physicians), while making no explicit or implicit reference to "Nursing Homes", "skilled nursing facilities", "nursing facilities", or Sections, 400.011-400.334, Florida Statutes (which govern Nursing Homes), makes it clear the Amendment was not meant to apply to those entities. This conclusion is the conclusion supported by the venerable and familiar latin maxim "*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*", which means "the expression of one thing means the exclusion of another". See

<u>Blacks Law Dictionary</u> (6th Ed. 1990). The application of that maxim here supports the interpretation of the Amendment adopted by the Fourth District, First District, and Respondent.

4. Conclusion

It is clear from the plain language of Amendment 7 that the Amendment does not apply to Nursing Homes; and that the plain language of the Amendment <u>does not</u> support any argument that it was the intent of the framers or voters to have the Amendment apply to Nursing Homes. Thus, this Court should answer the question certified by the Fourth District in the negative and hold that Nursing Homes do not fall within the definition of "Health Care Facility" or "Health Care Provider" as contemplated by the express language of Amendment 7.

B. THE EXPLANATORY MATERIALS AVAILABLE TO THE VOTERS REGARDING AMENDMENT 7 FURTHER EVIDENCE THE FACT THAT THE AMENDMENT DOES NOT APPLY TO NURSING HOMES

During the petition process for Amendment 7, the voters of Florida had access to various "explanatory materials" as a predicate for their decision on Amendment 7. These included materials available on the Floridians for Patient Protection website (which are unfortunately no longer available as their website is inaccessible), materials available on various government websites, newspaper articles and editorials, informational materials disseminated by non-partisan and partisan groups, the petition filed with the Secretary of State, the ballot summary, the "Statement and Purpose" of and entire proposed text of the Amendment.

The Court may look to the explanatory materials available to the people as a predicate for their decision as persuasive of their intent. See Plante v. Smathers, 372 So.2d 933, 936 (Fla. 1979). Consideration of the explanatory materials in this case is not necessary in light of the clear, precise, and unambiguous language of the Amendment and the statute incorporated therein. However, to the extent the Court reviews those materials, it will find they support the conclusion that Amendment 7 does not apply to Nursing Homes; and that they <u>do not</u> support any argument that the framers or voters intended for the Amendment to apply to Nursing Homes. In fact, the Court will find that any voter who reviewed these evaluative materials or materials similar to them could not *reasonably* have walked into the voting booth with the understanding or intent that voting for the Amendment would affect any entities other than physicians and hospitals.